Responses of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) genotypes to repeated drought stress under contrasting temperatures

Alphonsine Mukamuhirwa

Introductory paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science 2016:1

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Alnarp, February 2016



Well watered rice plants throughout the growing season (left) plants that were water stressed at seedling and vegetative stages (middle), stressed panicles (right)



Responses of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) genotypes to repeated drought stress under contrasting temperatures

Alphonsine Mukamuhirwa

Introductory paper at the Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science 2016: 1

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Alnarp, February 2016



Abstract

Rice is an important staple food crop for a large part of the world population. Rice is a good source of dietary energy and provides a good proportion of proteins and minerals.

Rice is adapted to diverse environments, although its semi-aquatic characteristic makes paddy rice producing better at high soil moisture content. Rice is largely grown in irrigated systems and drought is one of the most damaging abiotic stress factors, affecting rice growth, productivity and grain quality. Drought hinders rice growth and development and may cause yield losses up to 88% under severe drought.

Various factors including competition from other crops, urbanization and increasing water demand with a growing world population are threatening the rice production. Furthermore, increment of drought frequency and intensity together with rising temperatures due to climate changes constitute a heavy challenge to rice production.

Hence, efforts have been made to find water saving management practices in rice production as well as to breed cultivars for adaptation to drought-prone environment. Intensive studies have been carried out to understand drought adaptation mechanisms, to identify roots and leaf traits as well as quantitative trait loci associated with drought tolerance, and to select or incorporate drought adaptation traits into elite genotypes.

Breeding for highly productive cultivars showing enhanced adaptation to drought-prone environments has been hindered by the complexity of the trait and a strong genotype x environment interaction. Likewise, variability of drought occurrence in time, intensity and pattern are other constraints. The strong genotype x environment interaction makes development of mega-cultivar difficult. Thus, specific screening of cultivars adapted to certain environments, together with development of appropriate water management system is a necessity for successful rice production. Moreover, few researches have focused on combinational effects of drought and temperature on rice quality characteristics.

In Rwanda, rice is mainly produced in irrigated systems where insufficiency of water constitutes one of the limiting factors. Nevertheless, while drought frequency and temperatures are predicted to increase in the future, no research has been carried out to understand how these challenges in Rwandan rice production systems should be dealt with. In this context, the present research study proposes to evaluate the different cultivars suggested to be grown in Rwanda in order to increase the understanding related to how repeated drought and temperature influence yield and quality of rice, and to elucidate what options we have to improve adaptation to drought and high temperatures.

Table of Contents

| Abstract | iii |
|--|------|
| Table of Contents | iv |
| 1. Importance of rice | 1 |
| 1.1 Rice in human nutrition | 1 |
| 1.2 Other uses of rice | 1 |
| 2. Taxonomy, origin and geographical distribution | 2 |
| 3. Biology of rice | 3 |
| 3.1 Botany | 3 |
| 3.1.1 Root system | 3 |
| 3.1.2 Shoot system | 4 |
| 3.1.3 Floral organs | 5 |
| 3.1.4 Grain | 5 |
| 3.2 Rice development and physiology | 5 |
| 3.3. Quality of rice grain | 9 |
| 3.3.1 Physical properties | 9 |
| 3.3.2 Chemical characteristics | . 10 |
| 4. Rice cultivation | . 14 |
| 4.1 Rice cultivation in the world | .14 |
| 4.2 Rice cultivation in Rwanda | .16 |
| 4.3 Climate change and rice production in Rwanda | .17 |
| 5. Drought and rice production | .18 |
| 5.1 Effects of drought on rice productivity | . 18 |
| 5.2 Rice adaptation to drought stress | . 19 |
| 6. Rice breeding for adaptation to drought-prone sites | . 20 |
| 6.1 Phenotypic selection | .20 |
| 6.2 Molecular tools | .21 |
| 7. Current study | . 22 |
| 7.1 Problem description and rationale | . 22 |
| 7.2 Goal and objectives | .23 |
| 7.3 Hypotheses | .24 |
| 7.4 Interest of the study | .24 |
| References | . 25 |

1. Importance of rice

1.1 Rice in human nutrition

Rice is among the major staple food crops for a large proportion of the world population. Rice nutrient content varies depending on the cultivar and production conditions in addition to the processing method (Rohman et al. 2014).

Rice contains mainly carbohydrates and contributes with 20% of the world's dietary energy. 100gr of raw white rice provide 361 kcal and 6 gr of proteins (Calpe 2006). Good proportions of thiamine, riboflavin, niacin and dietary fibers (FAO 2004) are found in rice. Whole grains, especially from red and black rice are rich in polyphenols and insoluble fibers with nutraceutical and antioxidant benefits (Shao and Bao 2015, Zhang et al. 2015) that play a role in preventing colorectal and intestinal cancer. The low content of fat, cholesterol and sodium in rice contributes to a reduction in obesity and improves cardiovascular health (available at www.organicfacts.net).

Besides its consumption as cooked grain, rice can be processed into different products like rice flour and starch, cakes and puddings, breakfast cereals, rice snacks and noodles, baby food, rice milk and fermented beverages. Milk made from rice can be consumed by people allergic to dairy milk. In addition to its nutritive value, rice is easily conservable even at farm level and thus plays an important role for food security (GRiSP 2013).

1.2 Other uses of rice

In animal feed, rice bran constitutes a cheap product rich in nutrients. Rice hulls and husks may also be incorporated into animal feed production whereas rice straw may be used as litter for animal bedding (GRiSP 2013).

Rice hulls and husks are also used as fuel. They may be incorporated in concrete blocks, tiles, ceramics, cement, filters, charcoal briquettes, and used for cooking gas production. Additionally, the rice straw is used as energy source, roofing material, bedding material and as seedbed cover. All rice by-products serve as good medium for mushroom production. Their incorporation into the soil contributes to nutrient restitution (GRiSP 2013).

In producing countries, rice is often used in religious ceremonies and weddings as a sign of prosperity. In West Africa, some old cultivars are used in traditional medicine. Phenolic compounds in brown rice possess anti-inflammatory properties and thus help in soothing irritated skin as well as delaying signs of premature aging of the skin (available at www.organicfacts.net)

2. Taxonomy, origin and geographical distribution

Rice is classified as belonging to the Gramineae family and the genus *Oryza*. The genus *Oryza* consists of 20 species while only two of the species (*O. sativa* and *O. glaberrima*) are cultivated. *O. sativa* is referred to as the Asian rice while *O. glaberrima* is the African rice. *O. sativa* is subdivided into the indica and japonica types which are sometimes considered as subspecies (Garris et al. 2005). Historically, one type of tropical japonica was incorrectly considered as a third separate type of *O. sativa*, termed javanica (Oka 1988). Indica types are tall plants with high tillering ability and slender leaves. The grains of the indica type are long and narrow. Japonica types are short plants with moderate tillering, producing short and round grains.

Besides the conventional cultivars, New Rice for Africa (NERICA) cultivars were bred by AfricaRice (formerly known as WARDA: West African Rice Development Association) using interspecific hybrid germplasm derived from *O. sativa* and *O. glaberrima*. NERICA cultivars have a shorter lifecycle, a higher yield potential as compared to *O. glaberrima*, are resistant to various biotic and abiotic stress factors and are suitable for poor farming systems of sub-Saharan Africa (Jones et al. 1997).

The determination of both the genetic origin and the origin of domestication of rice is complex and controversial. Vaughan et al. (2008) suggested that African and Asian rice might share a common ancestor diverging from *O. longistaminata*, a perennial African species. However, other findings indicate *O. glaberrima* to originate from *O. barthii* and that this event took place in the inland delta of the Niger river approximately 3000 years ago (Wopereis 2009a; Wang et al. 2014). The separate origin of *O. sativa* and *O. glaberrima* was further evidenced when the *O. glaberrima* genome was sequenced (Wang et al. 2014) and compared with the *O. sativa* and *O. glaberrima* took place separately although the two species have a parallel evolution and thus share some evolutionary genes.

The exact origin of the Asian rice constitutes a debate among scientists. *Oryza rufipogon* and *Oryza nivara* are disputed to be the wild progenitors of *O. sativa* (Fuller 2011). The annual life cycle, self-fertilization and high production potential of *O. nivara* (Chang 2003) and the high level of genetic diversity from crosspollination of *O. rufipogon* (Oka 1988) make both these species candidate progenitors of *O. sativa*. Likewise, archeological and molecular-

based studies have suggested both a single and a double origin of domestication and evolution for the *indica* and *japonica* types of *O. sativa* (Sang and Ge 2007). Common genomic regions in both types might be a result of introgressions from one species to another (He et al. 2011). However, identical sequences for some traits such as the domestication gene *sh4* responsible of non-shattering and the erect habit locus *prog1* indicate a single origin (Molina et al. 2011). A single origin indicates that *O. rufipogon* is the common ancestor of the *O. sativa* species and the domestication might have taken place in the Yangtze valley in China (Molina et al. 2011; Lu et al. 2002).

Rice cultivation is best suited to a wet tropical climate. However, rice adapts to diverse environments ranging from sea level to an altitude as high as 3000 m above sea level and latitude wise from 35° South (S) to 53° North (N) due to its high genetic diversity and elevated plasticity (Santos et al. 2003). *O. sativa* is spread to all rice growing environments over the world while the spreading of *O. glaberrima* has remained limited to West Africa, its area of origin. Xiong et al. (2011) showed that *indica* cultivars were distributed from 2° S to 40° N whereas *japonica* mostly occupied the latitudes higher than 15° N. The *indica* cultivars followed a normal distribution around a latitudinal temperature peak of 26° C (30° N). The distribution of *Japonica* cultivars was negatively correlated with the average temperatures in the latitude thus confirming the high sensitivity of *japonica* types to increasing temperatures (Xiong et al. 2011).

3. Biology of rice

3.1 Botany

3.1.1 Root system

The radicle is the first to emerge from the coleorhizae of the embryo at germination time (Hochholdinger et al. 2004). A few days after radicle emergence, five embryonic crown roots emerge from the coleoptilar node at the same time as the emergence of the first and second leaf. Later, nodal roots emerge from the stem and tillers' nodes. Embryonic and nodal roots constitute primary roots from which lateral roots are rising. Rice develop many, thin, small lateral roots and a few large lateral roots. Small lateral roots display a determinate lateral growth whereas large lateral roots indeterminably grow downward and develop other small lateral roots (Sasaki et al. 1984). Roots develop root hairs that adsorb water and nutrients. In flooded soils, oxygen is captured from the atmosphere through stomata and transported to the root tips through aerenchyma (Kirk 2003).

About 675 quantitative trait loci (QTLs) have been identified associated with rice root parameters such as root density, maximum root elongation and thickness, root/shoot ratio and root penetration index and most of them have been mapped to chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 7, 9 and 11 (Coudert et al. 2010).

Besides the genetic background, the surrounding environment significantly influences the growth and root architecture of rice. Roots became larger, had less porous and fewer adventitious roots when rice grew in aerobic soil than in anaerobic conditions (Colmer 2003). In addition, plants grown in stagnant solution with high phosphorus (P) level developed shorter but denser adventitious roots with more pores and larger earenchyma than plants grown in aerated conditions with high P supply (Insalud et al. 2006). Moreover, an increasing nitrogen rate resulted in an increase of root weight, root length and surface area (Fan et al. 2010). Furthermore, Fang et al. (2013) noted that root architecture could be modified following a genotype-specific signal from neighbouring roots, or the growth of the root system could be reduced with an increasing number of root tips reaching a physical obstacle.

3.1.2 Shoot system

The aboveground organs of rice comprise the culm, the leaves and the panicle.

Leaves are alternately arranged around the culm and each leaf comprises a blade and a sheath. Blades are flat, sessile and are attached to the culm node by a leaf sheath. The leaf sheath envelops the culm in different form, length and tightness. Leaf morphological traits such as erectness, length, width, thickness, toughness, and senescence contribute to yielding capacity of a cultivar. Erect, thick, and short leaves have been found to permit greater photosynthetic activity by allowing penetration and an even distribution of light as well as less mutual shading (Craufurd et al. 1999; Fageria et al. 2006). Delayed leaf senescence has been considered as a desirable character (Jennings et al. 1979) for active photosynthesis during grain filling which allows more carbohydrates accumulation in the grain.

The stem, also called culm, develops from the plumule of the embryo. The culm is formed by solid centers at the node position and hollow internodes (RKMP 2011). At each node, a leaf and a bud are developed while the last top internode bears the panicle. Internode distance and final plant height vary according to varieties, management practices and environments.

Tillers develop at the end of the seedling stage from the bottom buds of the culm. Tillers produced from the main culm's nodes are primary tillers. The tiller develops its own roots when its fourth leaf emerges. Tillers have the same anatomy and physiology as the main culm. Tillering covers the whole vegetative phase and stops with panicle initiation (Espino 2012). Maximum tiller number has been obtained 35 to 71 days after sowing. After panicle initiation unproductive tillers degenerate (Fageria and Baligar 2001).

3.1.3 Floral organs

The inflorescence of rice is called panicle which is a group of florets (spikelets) borne from the terminal node of the culm. The panicle is sometimes branched into secondary and tertiary branches that bear spikelets.

The floret consists of six stamens and one pistil. The lodicules represent the reduced perianth. The lodicules become turgid, pushing the lemma and palea apart and allowing the stamens to emerge above the open floret. The lemma and palea are modified stems that harden and close after pollination to protect the florets and the developing embryo (RKMP 2011).

3.1.4 Grain

The rice grain is a caryopsis firmly enclosed by the lemma and palea. The lemma and palea and their associated structure form the hull or husk. The embryo is located next to the lemma while the endosperm constitutes the remaining part of the grain (GRiSP 2013).

3.2 Rice development and physiology

Rice development passes through three main phases, namely the vegetative phase from germination to panicle initiation, the reproductive phase from panicle initiation to flowering, and the maturation phase from flowering to maturity (Moldenhauer et al. 2013). From germination to maturity, a rice plant undergoes different physiological and morphological changes according to the growth stage (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Rice growth and developmental stages

The developmental phases are subdivided into 10 growing stages:

1. Germination and emergence (stage 0): has been described as the projection of the radicle and plumule through the hull followed by the breaking of the first leaf through the coleoptile. Germination takes place when the seed has absorbed sufficient water and the temperature is between 10 and 40°C (Yoshida 1981). The oxygen content of the soil was reported to play an important role for the germination process; the radicle appears first in aerated soils whereas it is the coleoptile that emerges first in anaerobic soils (Yoshida 1981).

2. Seedling (stage 1): starts directly after emergence and lasts up to the first tillering. Early, the seedling is characterized by the development of seminal roots and leaves. At later stages, secondary adventitious roots that form the permanent fibrous root system develop while the radicle and seminal roots die. The development of roots in length is active during seedling stage and early vegetative stage and reaches a plateau at flowering time (Klepper 1992). It has been reported that the root system architecture is genetically determined but it is also greatly influenced by the environment. A high correlation was found between root formation and nitrogen concentration at the stem base (Yoshida 1981). Moreover, thicker and denser roots have been observed in dry and aerobic conditions compared to flooded conditions. Yoshida (1981) reported that 5 to 6 ppm oxygen is required for seedling growth during early seedling stages. In addition, seedlings raised in limited water supply may rapidly recover from transplantation stress thanks to smaller leaves and accumulation of more nitrogen and starch in the plant compared to seedlings that have been water lodged.

The seedling is heterotrophic and lives on seed reserves in the endosperm during the first days of its life and progressively becomes autotrophic at the 3 to 4 leaves stage (Salam et al.

1997) when photosynthesis commences. Optimum seedling growth is attained within the temperature range of 25° to 30° C. In general, emergence of a new leaf requires 100 degreedays before the initiation of panicle primordia and about 170 degree-days thereafter (Salam et al. 1997). Thus, leaves are developing at the rate of one leaf every 3 to 5 days and every 5 to 7 days before and after panicle primordia initiation, respectively (Salam et al. 1997).

3. Tillering (stage 2): begins when tillers emerge from the auxiliary buds of the nodes.

The primary tillers give rise to secondary tillers and tertiary tillers. The plant grows long and wide and develops tillers to the point that they are undistinguishable from the main stem.

Tillering capacity is genetically controlled. Li et al. (2003) isolated and characterized the gene MONOCULM 1 (*MOC1*) that is regulating the tillering in rice and the locus is mapped on the long arm of chromosome 6. Moreover, two independent genes, *OsSPL14* (a member of the squamosa promoter binding protein-like) and strigolactones (*SLs*), have been reported to regulate outgrowth of tiller buds (Luo et al. 2012).

A close relationship has been reported between active tillering / leaf area expansion and active nutrients absorption (especially nitrogen, phosphorus and sulfur) and increased photosynthesis (Murayama 1995). Nitrogen and phosphorus content at, or above, 3.5% and 0.25% respectively, are required to stimulate tillering (Counce 2006). Number of tillers and shoot dry weight decreased in submerged and low phosphorus supply conditions (Insalud et al. 2006).

4. Stem elongation (stage 3): spans from later tillering to panicle initiation although stem elongation might be induced at earlier stages by deep seeding or deep water. At stem elongation, only few of the nodes, normally the five top nodes, elongate whereas the rest of the nodes remain short. The number of elongated nodes varies according to cultivar and environments. For example, internodes increased in number and in total length with a prolonged photoperiod in photo-sensitive cultivars (Yoshida 1981).

5. Panicle initiation to booting (stage 4): the reproductive stage in rice starts with the initiation of the panicle primordium around 30 days before heading. Beginning from the main culm, initiation of panicle primordium continues in the tillers. The panicle develops although additionally 3 leaves emerge before the panicle emerges. The panicle development, that takes place before heading, ends up in booting when the upward extension of the panicle causes the flag leaf sheath to protrude. At the time when the flag leaf sheath protrudes, leaves and nonproductive tillers start to senesce from the base of the plant. Panicle development takes 27 to 46 days depending on variety and weather conditions (Yoshida 1981). Booting is viewed as a crucial stage for the rice plant as meiosis occurs at this time.

6. Heading (stage 5): corresponds to the emergence of the panicle tip from the flag leaf.

Heading takes two to three weeks and ends with complete emergence. Low light intensity and high humidity have been associated with a delayed heading process. Application of exogenous salicylic acid delayed panicle emergence whereas high night temperature (32°C) speeded up panicle emergence (Mohammed and Terplay 2009).

7. Flowering or anthesis (stage 6): occurs one to three days after heading. The florets open, the stamens elongate, the anthers protrude from the glumes, and the pollen is released through both apical and basal pores (Yoshida 1981). Floret opening and filament elongation have been found to be related to potassium-driven uptake of water into lodicules and filament (Liu et al. 2006). Water stress resulted in starch degradation in the pollen of drought sensitive cultivars and pollen grains stuck to one another thereby failing to exit the anther (Liu et al. 2006) High temperature led to decreased spikelet fertility as a result of a decrease in pollen production and in number of pollen on the stigma (Prasad et al. 2006). Low (<20°C) or elevated (>35°C) temperature at heading and anthesis resulted in increased spikelet sterility (Yoshida 1981). High night temperature led to a 72% decrease in spikelet fertility in comparison to plants grown under ambient night temperature (Mohammed and Tarpley 2009). Moreover, a temperature beyond 40°C can even constrain the stimulating effect of elevated CO₂ concentration on spikelet fertility (Madan et al. 2012). However, exogenous application of vitamin E, glycine betaine and salicylic acid contributed positively to spikelet fertility, especially at high night temperatures, as spikelet fertility increased with 47%, 120% and 195%, respectively, compared to an increase of 9%, 15% and 18%, respectively, at ambient night temperature (Mohammed and Tarpley 2009).

8. Milk grain (stage 7): is noted when a milky liquid fills the grains. The dry weight of the grain increases rapidly as a result of grain filling. The filling starts 15 to 20 days after flowering in the tropics and 25 to 30 days in temperate zones. The upper spikelets on the panicle are the first to be filled and produce heavier grains whereas lower, late-flowering spikelets are sterile or poorly filled and of poor grain quality (Mohapatra et al. 1993). These differences in upper and lower spikelets have been associated with hormonal dynamics during grain filling (Wang et al. 2015). An increase in indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), abscisic acid (ABA) and zeatin riboside (ZR) occurs from 3 to 15 days after pollination (Xu et al. 2007; Abu-Zaitoon et al. 2012) with a maximum content at 6 to 9 and 9 to 15 days after pollination, in superior and inferior spikelets, respectively (Xu et al. 2007). ABA peak values have been positively correlated with maximum filling rate and negatively correlated also with the peak values of IAA and ZR suggesting that these hormones regulate early grain filling stages

through affecting the endosperm cell division (Xu et al. 2007). An early grain filling period was shown positively correlated with high grain fresh weight and with the beginning of the stage of starch synthesis (Abu-Zaitoon et al. 2012).

Environmental factors such as drought, nitrogen deficiency and low solar radiation are largely affecting the grain filling stage. In general, positive correlations have been found among grain filling duration, cumulative mean temperatures, solar radiation and final grain weight. However, the grain filling rate was negatively associated with the above parameters (Yang et al. 2008). Water deficit during the grain filling period induced rapid plant senescence and shortened the grain-filling duration (Xie et al. 2001). The milking stage was significantly affected by salinity as a result of chlorosis of the leaves, reduction in gas exchange and a significant decrease of the photosynthesis rate (Sultana et al. 1999). A high temperature of 35/27.8°C resulted in a drop in percentage of filled grains from 98% to 16% for the rice cultivar IR2006 and from 83% to 3.2% for IR52

9. Dough grain (stage 8): is when the milky liquid progressively becomes hard dough, and the grains turn from green to yellow.

10. Mature grain (stage 9): is achieved when the grain completely develops and is hard. The upper leaves dry rapidly but may remain green in some cultivars.

During the ripening stage, photosynthates accumulate in the grains in the form of starch. In addition, mobile carbohydrates, proteins, and mineral nutrients in leaves, stems, and roots migrate to the panicles while the plant gradually senesce (Murayama 1995).

3.3. Quality of rice grain

Quality of rice grains are defined by the physical appearance, cooking and eating qualities, and nutritional values. Environmental conditions such as drought during plant development may affect the quality of rice. For example, drought during 1-20 and 11-40 days before and after heading, respectively, was found detrimental to brown and milled rice rates, the mid booting stage being the stage when the drought was influencing the quality to the highest extent (Wang et al. 2007).

3.3.1 Physical properties

Grain dimension is used to classify rice into four groups according to its length. namely extra-long, long, medium and short respectively measuring 7.5 mm or above, 6.5 to 7.5 mm, 5.5 to 6.5 mm and below 5.5.

Length to width ratio determines the different grain sizes into slender (>3.0), bold (2.0 to 3.0) and round (<2.0) (Belsnio 1992). Under normal conditions yield was positively

correlated with grain width and grain breadth and negatively correlated with grain length (Haider et al. 2015). However, under drought, though a positive correlation existed between grain length and grain width, yield per plant was correlated with grain width whereas no correlation was found with grain length and grain breadth (Haider et al. 2015).

Colour: the grain colour is a varietal property but is also determined by milling level.

Rice grains are normally white or reddish. Whitening and polishing removes the silver skin to make the grain whiter. Wet environmental conditions before the grain is dried causes it to ferment and the starch is partly gelatinized giving the grain a yellowish coloration.

Chalkiness/ translucency: is caused by interruption during the final stages of grain filling which makes the starch granules loosely packed and more prone to breakage during milling (Sampang 1992). Rising temperature immediately after flowering and poor soil fertility and water management affect chalkiness level (Mackill et al. 1996). An interaction effect was observed between moisture stress and nitrogen level on rice quality. Chalkiness was found to increase and palatability to decrease under normal nitrogen level and water stress (Cai et al. 2006). In contrast, under high N rate, the chalkiness percentage was lowered and the palatability improved at water stress (Cai et al. 2006).

3.3.2 Chemical characteristics

Chemical characteristics of rice comprise content of starch, proteins, lipids, minerals and bioactive compounds. Significant differences have been reported between different cultivars for their proteins, crude fibers, fats, ashes and minerals contents (Oko et al. 2012; Anjum et al. 2007; Zeng et al. 2004). However, differences between the two types of rice, i.e. indica and japonica were inconsistent (Zeng et al. 2004).

Cooking and eating characteristics of rice are mainly linked to its starch properties. Starch make up 90% of the dry matter content of milled rice. Important starch characteristics are gelatinization temperature, gel consistency and amylose content (Pandey et al. 2014). Gelatinization temperature (GT) has been correlated with gelatinization time (González et al. 2004) and thereby determines the cooking time. Gel consistency has been described as the tendency of rice to harden upon cooling. Firmness of rice has been positively correlated with cooking resistance and negatively correlated with surface water absorption and cooking time (González et al. 2004). Rice starch characteristics are varying depending on rice cultivar and on the analysed fraction of the starch (Shabbir et al. 2008).

Amylose content classifies the milled rice into waxy (1-2% amylose), very low amylose content (2-9% amylose), low amylose content (10-20% amylose), intermediate amylose content (20-25% amylose) and high amylose content (25-33% amylose). High amylose grains retain less water upon cooking and are associated with a harder gel consistency and a low gelatinization temperature. Rice starch texture has also been determined based on the chain length of amylose and amylopectin (González et al. 2004).

Pasting characteristics have also been shown to be affected by environmental conditions during the growing season, agronomic practices, grain development and isolation procedures (Wani et al. 2012, González et al. 2004). High ambient temperature during ripening related to starch with a higher GT whereas water stress resulted in starch with lower GT and lower peak viscosity compared to starch from rice grown under standard conditions (Veronic et al. 2007). Likewise, high temperature affects amylopectin chains with an increase of long chains at the expense of short ones (Inouchi et al. 2000). Genotype x salinity interaction has been reported to affect starch content. High salinity and alkalinity caused reduction in starch content in tolerant and semi-tolerant genotypes whereas sensitive genotypes did not show such a reduction in starch content (Surekha et al. 2013). Moreover, reduction in amylose content in sensitive genotypes has been recorded only at high salinity while tolerant and semi-tolerant genotypes where at low salinity and alkalinity level (Surekha et al. 2013). Positive correlations have been shown between amylose content in rice grains and the mineral elements K, Na, Mg, Cu, and Mn (Jiang et al. 2007).

Regarding protein content, large variations between cultivars have been reported: 1.58 to 7.94% in cultivars grown in Nigeria (Oko et al. 2012), 7.8 to 8.8% in Pakistani cultivars (Anjum et al. 2007) and 5.9 to 11.0% in Indian cultivars (Devi et al. 2015). Genetic research revealed that rice grain protein content is a multi-genic trait, controlled by a cluster of QTLs (Wang et al. 2008). A major QTL (qPC1) which encodes a putative amino acid transporter (OsAAP6) that controls the synthesis of rice proteins, i.e. the glutelins, prolamins, globulins, albumins, has been mapped to the RM472–RM104 region of the long arm of chromosome 1 (Peng et al. 2014).

Besides genetic control, the content of rice grain protein is influenced by growing conditions. For example, the protein content of NERICA 1 reached 7.5 to 8.0% in well-watered conditions whereas the protein content was 10.1 to 10.5% in water stressed rice (Fofana et al. 2010). Protein content of 7.9% and 8.2%, respectively, was recorded at nitrogen

fertilizer applications of 80kg.hm⁻² and 120kg.hm⁻² (Chandel et al. 2010). High temperature during the grain development resulted in an increased production of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and prolamine while the amount of proteins such as allergen related proteins and elongation factor 1 β decreased (Lin et al. 2005).

Treatment and/or storage conditions of rice are also resulting in alterations of the protein composition. The protein content gradually decreased in parboiled rice bran with increasing heating time in the microwave (Rizk et al. 1994). Moreover, the solubility of the proteins was reduced whereas disulphide bonds as well as the molecular weight of oryzenin (rice storage proteins or glutelins) increased under high storage temperature (Chrastil 1990). Furthermore, high storage temperatures resulted in decreased binding of oryzenin to amylose/amylopectin which led to sticky cooked rice (Chrastil 1990). Structural changes have been observed in globulin and glutelin as a result of rice aging (Guo et al. 2013). In glutelin, an increase of sulfhydryl groups on the expenses of α -helical and unordered coil structures were found while in globulin, an oxidation of sulfhydryl groups was found. In addition, starch and globulin became strongly associated whereas the bonds between glutelin and starch were loosened (Guo et al. 2013).

Mineral elements are chemical compounds in crops that have an important role in human nutrition. Variation in mineral content in rice is dependent on cultivars, growing conditions and milling fraction of rice. In a study of 274 rice genotypes grown in China, the mean contents of K, Ca, Na, Mg, Fe, Zn, Cu, and Mn in milled rice were 804.8, 119.5, 20.8, 194.8, 5.4, 26.0, 10.0, and 10.7μ g/g respectively (Jiang et al. 2007). Na and Fe showed the largest variation among genotypes with maximum/minimum content ratios of 19.5 and 27.4, respectively, while Zn varied the least with a ratio of 3.3.

In Indian cultivars, mineral content of 155.5 to 173.5 mg, 1.20 to 1.31 mg, and 1.59 to 1.71 mg per 100 g were found for K, Fe and Zn, respectively. The highest values for Na and K were noted in Basmati 2000 while the values of Fe and Zn were highest in the Super Basmati rice cultivar and the cultivar KS.282 showed the lowest mineral content (Shabbir et al. 2008). In cultivars grown in Nigeria, contents of 0.15 to 0.23%, 0.09 to 0.17%, 0.07 to 0.25%, and 0.07 to 0.25% were recorded for K, Na, Ca and Mg respectively (Oko et al. 2012).

Correlation analyses between different minerals contents have shown significant positive associations between the contents of K and Mg, Ca and Na and Mg, Fe, Zn, Mn and Cu, whereas Cu and K contents were negatively correlated (Jiang et al. 2007). However, negative correlations (though not significant) were noted between Na and K, and between Mg and P, K

and Na, while significant positive relation has been observed between Na and P (Oko et al. 2012). In addition, Mg, Ca, and Zn contents have been significantly positively correlated with most of the amino acid contents. Mg, Zn, Cu, and Mn contents were significantly positively correlated with protein content (Jiang et al. 2007).

A genotype \times environment interaction has been reported for mineral content in two cultivars and two regions of China where Fe and Zn content were higher and Ca lower in the cultivar TN1 than in the cultivar CJ06 in the Lingshui region whereas the inverse was observed in the Hangzhou region (Du et al. 2013). Genetically, 23 QTLs and 9 QTLs linked to mineral accumulation were identified in the Lingshui and the Hangzhou regions, respectively. However, only two of the detected QTLs were consistent over the two locations, namely RM527-RM3 on chromosome 6 and RM4085-RM1111 on chromosome 8, both linked to the region regulating Mg accumulation (Du et al. 2013).

The mineral contents were found to vary according to the position of the grain on the panicle. Higher contents of minerals were recorded from the top than from the bottom, and from the primary than from the secondary rachis of the panicle, inversely to the concentrations of phytic acid (Su et al. 2014).

Higher content of minerals as well as of proteins, fat, and crude fibers were found in rice bran than in the polished rice (Anjum et al. 2007). Zn and Fe concentrations were highest in the bran and thereafter, in decreasing order, in the hull, whole grain, brown rice and polished rice. The concentrations of Mn and Cu were highest in the hull and thereafter, in decreasing order, in the bran, whole grain, brown rice and polished rice. Polishing of rice resulted in large losses of nutrients, leaving only 2%, 6% and 1% respectively of the total Mn, Zn and Fe, and Cu (Ziarati and Azizi 2013). Brown rice showed higher values than white rice for Na (4.9 vs. 3.9 mg/100 g rice), K (229 vs. 102 mg/100 g rice), Fe (1.7 vs. 0.77 mg/100 g rice) and Zn (2 vs. 1.3 mg/100 g rice) (Ziarati and Azizi 2013).

As many other plants, rice contains bioactive compounds that are beneficial for human health, especially having a protective role against cardiovascular diseases and cancers (Kris-Etherton et al. 2002).

Different fractions of rice contain different quantities of bioactive compounds, such as phenolic acids (ferulic, p-coumaric and vanillic acids), γ -oryzanol and tocopherols. There are also reports of variations in ferric reducing ability power and free-radical scavenging activity in various fractions of rice. The bran fraction has been found to have the highest values for all

the mentioned parameters, followed by husk and brown rice, while the lowest values have been found in milled rice (Butsat and Siriamornpun, 2010).

Differences in content of bioactive compounds and antioxidant capacity have also been reported to depend on variation in growing location (Butsat and Siriamornpun, 2010). Moreover, a 110% increase of phenolic acid compounds was reported after 120h of fermentation by *Rizhopus oryzae* (Schmidt et al. 2014). Similarly, Razak et al. (2015) observed increases in phenolic acids content when rice bran was fermented by *Aspergillus oryzae* (*A. oryzae*) and *Rhizopus* oryzae (*R. oryzae*). The highest antioxidant potential in the rice bran was found in samples fermented with a mixture of both the mentioned fungi. However, p-coumaric acid did not show any significant increase after fermentation with *R. oryzae* (Schmidt et al. 2014) or *A. oryzae* (Razak et al. 2015) and the content was even reduced when the rice bran was fermented with *Saccharomyces boulardii* (Ryan et al. 2011). Furthermore, Razak et al. (2015) reported an absence of p-coumaric acid and ferulic acid when rice bran was fermented by *R. oryzae*.

Total phenolic content was reported to be highest in the soluble solution of black rice, and also in the insoluble solution of light-purple rice. White rice instead showed the highest values for ferulic, p-coumaric and isoferulic acids (Zhang et al. 2015). However, total anthocyanin content (TAC) was low (0.02–0.09 mg/g) in white rice while TAC in black rice varied between 1.47 and 2.07 mg/g and was eight fold higher than TAC in light-purple rice (Zhang et al. 2015).

4. Rice cultivation

4.1 Rice cultivation in the world

Although rice evolved in a semiaquatic habitat (Wassmann et al. 2009, Bouman et al. 2007), it adapts to different water regimes. Rice thrives in waterlogged soil and can tolerate submergence more than any other crop but it is highly sensitive to drought. Thus the majority (50%) of rice is grown under irrigated conditions while approximately 34% of the rice is grown in rainfed lowlands. Rainfed upland systems make up 9% and flooded rice cultivation covers 7% of the world rice area (IRRI 2007).

Rice has evolved differently in the lowland and upland environments. Thanks to a developed root system and early maturity, upland cultivars are adapted to limited water availability but their productivity is rather low. Lowland cultivars are adapted to anaerobic conditions, they are more responsive to high inputs compared to the upland cultivars, and they are also in general drought sensitive (Kumar et al. 2014a).

Up to 2010, being produced on more than 114 million farms and 162 million ha, rice occupies the largest area worldwide among crops. The largest rice producers are China and India plus Indonesia, Bangladesh, Vietnam, Thailand, and Myanmar. The Asian top seven producers make up 80% of the world's production (GRiSP 2013). Rice is also produced in Africa mainly in Egypt, Madagascar and Nigeria. In Latin America, rice is principally produced in Brazil, Peru, Colombia and Ecuador. In the United States rice production is dominant in California and the southern states near the Mississippi river. The leading European producers are Italy, Spain and Russia. Rice is also grown in Australia although its production is currently being threatened by recurring drought (GRiSP 2013).

Rice production has increased, mainly due to expansion of the cultivation area. Moreover, thanks to research, high yielding and short duration cultivars have been developed, allowing more than one cultivation season per year (Guimarães 2009). The main achievements of the rice breeding are the development of new rice plant types, hybrid rice and NERICA varieties. Super rice cultivars have been developed that are highly nitrogen responsive and lodging resistant. Nitrogen fertilization has improved rice growth, dry matter accumulation, yield components and grain yield due to increased availability of nutrients and photosynthetic activities (Chaturvedi 2005, Ahmed et al. 1998). However, excessive nitrogen application has been associated with lodging (Bhiah et al. 2010, Zhang et al. 2014), disease promotion (Long et al. 2000), delayed maturity and reduced grain quality (Gu et al. 2015). The development of high yielding and nitrogen-efficient cultivars, improvement of grain filling in inferior spikelets, and increasing harvest index are suggested to give high yields with efficient input use (Yang 2015). Besides breeding programs, improved agricultural practices such as alternate wetting-drying (Zhang et al. 2012), mulching (Zhang et al. 2008), midseason potassium and nitrogen application (Zhang et al. 2013) have contributed to increased yield with efficient resources use.

Despite the mentioned achievements, a continuous annual yield growth of 1 to 1.2% will be needed beyond 2020 to feed the continuous growing world population (GRiSP 2013, Guimarães 2009). The major challenge for such an increase in yield is the current climate change events. In fact, a yield reduction of 10% is predicted for each 1°C increase in minimum night temperature (GRiSP 2013).

The optimum temperature for growth and productivity of rice ranges between 25° and 30° C, whereas temperatures below 20° C and above 35° C cause drastic reduction in grain yield. Wopereis (2009b) reported that growth was suppressed at extreme temperatures below 10° C and above 40° C. Cold climate during the vegetative stage has been associated with reduced plant vigor, production of few tillers, increased plant death and delayed flowering (Baruah et al 2009, Woperies 2009b). Reductions of up to 50%, 83% and 29% for panicle number, spikelet fertility and yield have been reported for plants exposed to a temperature of 13° C during reproductive stage (Ghadirnezhad and Fallah 2014). Night temperatures have been found to be more harmful to rice growth and yield than day temperatures (Cheng et al. 2009). In fact, during grain filling, more carbohydrates are burned as a result of elevated respiration under high night temperatures. This has an impact on the photosynthesis efficiency the next day, resulting in a reduced filling of grains (Moldenhauer et al. 2013). Translocation of carbon and nitrogen to the panicle were stimulated by elevated CO₂ whereas a high night temperature limited the translocation (Cheng et al. 2009).

Baker et al. (1992) and Yang et al. (2006) independently reported a significant positive correlation between total biomass, yield and elevated CO_2 concentration. Conversely, Kim and You (2010) observed a reduction of total biomass, shorter panicles, reduction in number of grains per panicle and ripened grain ratio under elevated CO_2 concentration and elevated temperature. Those results confirm the negative impact of global warming on rice productivity despite the stimulating effects of increased CO_2 concentration.

4.2 Rice cultivation in Rwanda

Rice was introduced in Rwanda in 1950. The current estimated area of rice cultivation is around 12,000 Ha of marshland or flood valleys. Rice cultivation is spread into 29 irrigated schemes country-wide whose 2, 12, 13, and 2 are respectively located in Western, Southern, Eastern, and Kigali City. The altitude ranges from 1,000 m to more than 1,700 m above sea level characterized by high relative humidity, cold nights (10 to 15°C) and hot days (20 to 30°C) (MINAGRI 2011). In Rwanda, rice is considered as a priority crop because of a production potential of 7 T/ha per season and such a high production cannot be reached by any other crop in the marshland ecosystem. Rice production also allows exploitation of additional marshland while leaving arable land on hillsides for other crops. In addition, consumption of rice has increased during later years, making rice relevant both as cash and subsistence crop for farmers and other people involved in rice production and commercialization (MINAGRI 2002). However, the potential yield is not achieved because of

low temperatures and insufficient water availability in addition to diseases and pests, and insufficient quality seed (RAB, 2013).

Although rice production has increased in recent years due to the expansion of rice cultivated land (MINAGRI 2011) local production still need to be supplemented by importations to satisfy consumer demand in both quantity and quality (Promar 2012).

The country targets a yield average of 5.8-7tons.Ha and a cultivation area of 28,500 Ha by 2018 (MINAGRI 2011).

4.3 Climate change and rice production in Rwanda

Like elsewhere in the world, the future of rice production in Rwanda may be constrained by climate change effects. Additionally, competition from other crops and urbanisation activities for both land and water are factors impacting rice production in Rwanda (REMA 2011). A SWOT analysis of rice sector has classified climate change and access to water among threats to rice productivity in Rwanda besides demographic pressure, inefficient soil fertility management, pests and diseases attacks, (MINAGRI 2011).

Recent meteorological events, mainly the floods of 1997 and the prolonged drought of 2000, associated with El Nino and La Nina (DFID, 2009) demonstrated that the climate change in Rwanda may have catastrophic consequences. For the period 1970–2004, Africa has registered an average surface temperature increase of 0.2 to 2 °C. A further increase of 1 to 2° C in Rwanda is predicted during the current century: i.e 2010-2100 (MINELA, 2010). The mean annual temperature has risen from 19.8°C in 1971 to 21°C in 2009. This 1.2°C increase in four decades is significantly beyond the 0.8°C that caused the global warming over a period of 150 years (REMA 2011).

Climate change scenarios in Rwanda foresee a substantial increase in both mean temperatures and extremes, especially during the June-September period with an increase in number of hot days and nights. A moderate increase in total rainfall is projected to take place but its distribution is likely to be quite uneven as dry spells during rainy seasons are predicted to increase (CSC 2013). Consequently, there is an imminent risk that rice production will be constrained by increasing temperatures and frequent droughts during the growing season.

5. Drought and rice production

5.1 Effects of drought on rice productivity

Drought is the insufficiency of soil moisture content to meet plant water requirements resulting in reduced growth and development of the plant and hence low yield (Blum 2011). Due to its semiaquatic phylogenetic origin, rice is more vulnerable to drought than any other crop (O' Toole 2004). Drought affects all physiological processes involved in plant growth and development (Lanceras et al. 2004).

At cell level, drought leads to a decrease in cell division and/or cell elongation (Sokoto and Muhammad 2014; Kumar et al. 2014b) as a consequence of the reduction in turgor pressure. Moreover, under water stress, cell expansion is much more impaired than cell division (Jaleel et al. 2009) causing tiny and stunted plants. Thus, water stress results in poor root development both in length and in diameter. Drought also hinders root branching (Clark et al. 2008). Under limited water supply, reduction in leaf size and leaf pubescence as well as a change in shape and leaf yellowing is observed. Furthermore, the development of new leaves and new tillers and stem expansion is slow during drought. Severe drought ends in leaf drying and finally plant death. Moreover, drought is accompanied by reduction in biomass production (Ji et al. 2012). All these modifications in normal status of the different tissues and organs impair with photosynthetic rate and other biochemical processes (Kadan et al. 2015; Usman et al 2013; Blum 2011). The reduction in photosynthetic rate is due to stomatal closure that limits the diffusion of CO₂, which leads to reduction of photosynthetic enzyme activity, and loss or diminution of photosynthetic pigments such as chlorophyll a and b and carotenoids (Yang et al. 2014) resulting from the impairment in their synthesis or their post synthesis degradation. Reduction of photosynthetic rate might also be caused by the loss of the chloroplast membrane.

Drought stress close to the booting stage resulted in disturbance of floret initiation (Pantuwan et al. 2002) whereas the number of unproductive tillers was increased. Furthermore, panicle trap within the flag leaf sheath and an increased amount of spikelet sterility due to anther dehiscence failure, or suppression of starch accumulation in pollen grains was observed at drought stress close to booting (Zhu et al. 2004). Mild drought during grain filling resulted in yield decreases of 11.6% to 14.7% (Cai et al. 2006), while severe drought at panicle initiation, flowering and grain filling resulted in losses of up to 70%, 88% and 52%, respectively (Yambao and Ingram 1988). Reductions of 22% for the number of

spikelets per panicle and 15% for 1000-grain weight were observed when drought was applied at 7 days before heading and 10 days after heading (Liu et al. 2006).

5.2 Rice adaptation to drought stress

Drought adaptation mechanisms are complex phenomena governed by different physiobiochemical processes (Tripathy et al. 2000).

Three categories of rice adaptation to drought are distinguished:

1. Drought escape was described as an adaptation strategy for short cycle cultivars able to produce grains before drought occurrence (Price et al. 2002; Yue et al. 2006). Such short duration cultivars or cultivars able to shorten grain filling period may escape terminal drought occurring during the reproductive stage.

2. Drought avoidance is achieved by cultivars able to take up water from deeper soils through the development of a deep root system (Price et al. 2002, Yue et al. 2006, Gouda et al. 2012). Root elongations, branching and directions of growth are stress induced and triggered also by other environmental factors such as nutrient availability and hormone status, particularly auxins and ABA. The severity of drought at the seedling and vegetative stages decides the magnitude of the stress avoidance by the plant and whether it will develop a deeper and/or more intensive root system with an increased capacity to accumulate dry matter (Bhatnagar-Mathur et al. 2007) and to recover upon re-watering (Okami et al. 2015, Xangsayasane et al. 2014).

3. Drought tolerance is considered as an ability of the plant tissues to maintain a good water status under limited water conditions (Guimarães et al. 2015).

Leaf rolling is one of the genetically determined responses of rice to water deficiency. Leaf rolling is leading to a reduced leaf area exposed to light, to a prevention of water loss through transpiration and to limited radiation damage (Ha 2014).

Physiological mechanisms of drought tolerance include among others osmotic adjustment and stomatal conductance. Osmotic adjustment is achieved by the accumulation of proline, soluble sugars, glycinebetaine and other solutes in the cytoplasm (Kato et al. 2011; Gowda et al. 2011, Wei et al. 2014) thereby improving water uptake. A sustained stomatal and mesophyll conductance (Comstock 2002; Price et al. 2002, Lauteri et al. 2014), and biomass production and partitioning (Guan et al. 2010, Xangsayasane et al. 2014) allow rice plants to survive water deficit stress.

An active accumulation of abscisic acid (ABA) under drought stress has been shown to significantly trigger antioxidant enzymes (Li et al. 2014) and regulate stomatal movement

(Ahmad et al. 2014) and carbon metabolism (Zhou et al. 2014) in addition to inducing the expression of many genes involved in regulating responses to drought.

Biochemical responses also include an increase in the antioxidant activity, thereby improving drought tolerance by scavenging reactive oxygen species. Moreover, under drought stress, tolerant plants showed higher content of cysteine, palmitoleic acid, oleic acid, arachidic acid, behemic acid, copper, potassium and magnesium, while higher levels of glycine, tyrosine, linoleic acid, linolenic acid, lignoceric acid and calcium were observed in sensitive plants in comparison to their counterpart plants grown under well-watered conditions (Nam et al. 2014). The accumulation of proline is the most important change as proline acts as an osmolyte. Proline chelates metals and is thereby playing a role as an antioxidant and signalling molecule (Fahramand et al 2014).

6. Rice breeding for adaptation to drought-prone sites

Drought tolerance encompasses action and changes in multiple morphological, physiobiochemical and molecular traits. To improve the drought adaptation in rice, we have to focus on how to maintain the water content in the plant tissues, how to keep normal plant function under water stress and how to improve the ability of the plant to recover from drought effects and to thereafter give a high yield.

6.1 Phenotypic selection

Recent research suggests grain yield to be used as a direct selection criterion under drought stress (Kumar et al. 2008; Verulkar et al. 2010) instead of indirect selection based on secondary traits (Jongdee et al. 2002, Pantuwan et al. 2002; Price and Courtois 1999, Fukai et al. 1995). However, as yield is a complex trait, there is a necessity for a genetic and physiological analysis of yield contributing traits and how they are affected by drought (Sellamuthu et al. 2015).

It has been discussed that grain yield is influenced by the moisture retention capacity of the plant which ensures effective evapotranspiration and photosynthesis and the translocation of produced dry matter to the grain (Jain et al. 2013).

Secondary traits like deep, thick, coarse and highly branched roots as well as higher root to shoot ratio are reported as constituents of rice drought adaptation (Blum 2011; Gowda et al. 2011). In addition, lateral root production in response to varying soil water content has been demonstrated as an important trait in maintaining dry matter production and grain yield (Niones et al. 2015).

Traits such as number of leaves, leaf area, leaf angle, leaf rolling plasticity, leaf water potential, canopy temperature, and especially flag leaf traits such as higher flag leaf area and relative dry weight of the flag leaf, leaf glaucousness, higher chlorophyll and lower malondialdehyde content and late senescence are positively associated to yield under drought (Biswal and Kohli 2013, Wei et al. 2014). In addition, drought resistant lines have shown higher leaf water content and less H_2O_2 which allowed stomatal regulation and photosynthetic performance (Siddiqui et al. 2014).

6.2 Molecular tools

Rice is a model crop among cereals with a genome size estimated between 389Mb (IRGSP, 2005) and 430Mb (Eckardt 2000). It was the first sequenced food crop (Swamy and Kumar 2013). The sequence information and availability of molecular markers have made it possible to speed up breeding processes in rice (Collard and Mackill 2008). Genomic studies have identified more than 20000 SSR markers and over a million of SNPs and InDels (McCouch et al. 2012).

Drought adaptation has been characterized as a complex strategy governed by many small-effect loci under strong genetic control but also strongly influenced by environmental factors (Fukao and Xiong 2013). Numerous loci affecting drought adaptation have been analyzed but few were found useful for marker-assisted selection (Yue et al. 2006). In fact, most of the QTLs were inconsistent across different environments and/or were not associated with grain yield even though they may be associated with secondary traits (Dixit et al. 2014). Possible linkage with negative effect loci has been proposed as the cause of this inconsistency (Dixit et al. 2012).

However, drought adaptation QTLs, such as qTLRN-12 and qLLRN-12 both mapped on chromosome 12, have been found to be associated to lateral root plasticity and dry matter production at seedling and vegetative phases, repectively (Niones et al. 2015). Sellamuthu et al. (2015) identified the QTLs qYLD4.1, qYLD4.2, qYLD6.3, and qYLD12 which are linked to grain yield under drought stress during reproduction stage. The QTL qPHT5, associated with plant height, was also found to collocate with peduncle length, panicle length and panicle exsertion, traits involved in drought adaptation (Sellamuthu et al. 2015). Another QTL associated with increased harvest index, biomass yield, plant height and early flowering has also been mapped on chromosome 12 (Bernier et al. 2007).

Genome-scale analyses showed that dehydration and ABA accumulation resulted in overexpression or down regulation of specific genes connected to the control of photosynthesis and carbohydrate metabolism as well as to signal transduction and survival during stress conditions (Degenkolbe et al. 2009; Lenka et al. 2011). Thus, drought responsive genes may directly react with enhanced osmotolerance and protection of plants by preventing cell dehydration. These direct genes encode late embryogenesis proteins, osmoprotectants and detoxification enzymes. Drought inducible genes may also indirectly intervene in signal transduction and gene expression regulation (Lata et al. 2015), including transcription factors and protein kinase.

Some mitogen-activated protein kinase family genes like the DSM1 gene (Ning et al. 2010, Xiong and Yang 2003) and transcription factors like OsSKIPa (Hou et al. 2009) promote drought tolerance through increasing ROS scavenging capability. A drought and salt tolerance gene (DST) encoding a C2H2 zinc finger protein inhibits stomatal closure through activation of H_2O_2 homeostasis gene expression (Gao et al. 2011). However, other genes like OsMADS26 enhance drought tolerance and tolerance to other stresses by negatively regulating stress-resistance genes (Khong et al. 2015).

7. Current study

7.1 Problem description and rationale

Drought frequency and intensity are predicted to increase in the near future due to climate change (Wassmann et al. 2009, Turral et al. 2011). Furthermore, competition for water between rice and other crops and urbanization activities are predicted to worsen water scarcity in agricultural production (Sinclair 2010). Additionally, the world's population growth will result in increased water demand and food production. In front of these challenges improved yield stability under drought and enhanced water use efficiency should be targeted in all efforts aimed at improving agricultural production.

Rice is among the most widely consumed crops in the world, yet the most vulnerable to drought. Decreasing water availability for agriculture threatens the productivity of irrigated rice ecosystem. Besides rice yield, quality of rice is affected by limited water availability. Thus, studies on how to improve drought adaptation of rice are becoming increasingly important (Serraj et al. 2011, Boote et al. 2011). Nevertheless, the unpredictability of drought occurrence and the complexity of involved mechanisms, a strong genotype \times environment interaction and the difficulty of not having an effective drought screening method hinder the development of drought resistant cultivars (Verulkar et al. 2010, Serraj et al. 2009).

The strong genotype \times environment interaction calls for specific genotypes and appropriate water management practices in a specific environment. We also have to consider the interaction between the different environment factors that may greatly influence rice productivity. Water and temperature are reported as important factors that affect rice production and quality. With the increasing trend of water shortage and rising temperature, it is imperative to consider combinational effects of these factors. So far, only few researches reported on the combined impact of drought and temperature on rice yield and/or quality.

Rationale

In Rwanda, rice is mostly produced in lowland irrigated schemes. However, insufficient water supply is one of the production constraints (RAB 2013). For example, in Bugarama which has the biggest rice production scheme, fights for water used to be a big issue until water user organizations were formed to take the responsibility of distributing water among the different zones. Thus, time to time, there are cuts of irrigation water in the different zones. Irrigation water needs to be supplemented by rainfall for a higher production (Water users' organization, personal communication). Nevertheless, no research on drought tolerance of rice in the Rwanda environment has been conducted. Yet, the present climate scenario predicts more frequent dry spells even during rainy seasons and a drastic increase in temperature.

With the irregular availability of irrigation water, cultivars that adapt to water regime fluctuations in the Rwandan climate need to be identified and/or improved for drought adaptation, high yield and good quality.

This study was designed to evaluate the responses of rice cultivars to different drought patterns and contrasting temperatures. Field trials will be conducted in two locations with different temperatures. To minimize the effect of other environmental factors, similar experiments will also be performed in two different growth chambers with different temperature sets. In both cases, water stress will be applied at different growth stages of rice.

7.2 Goal and objectives

General objective

This study aims at improved understanding of mechanisms related to drought resistance in rice cultivars grown in Rwanda and options to breed for drought tolerant cultivars for Rwanda under contrasting temperature.

Specific objectives

1. Evaluate the effect of drought pattern and drought intensity on growth, phenology and grain yield of rice cultivars grown in Rwanda

2. Determine the grain quality responses of rice to drought

3. Estimate the interaction effect of drought and temperature on rice yield and quality

7.3 Hypotheses

1. Repeated droughts have different effects than single drought events

- 2. There is a genetic variation for drought tolerance in rice cultivars grown in Rwanda
- 3. There is a significant drought x temperature effect on yield and quality of rice

7.4 Interest of the study

We expect that the results from this study will contribute to the understanding of drought tolerance mechanisms. Combinational effects of drought and temperature on rice quality will be elucidated. In addition, adaptation traits which can be used for cultivar improvement to cope with future climate change in Rwanda will be identified among available resources. Moreover, upon the results of this study an irrigation pattern that efficiently uses available water while preserving rice yield and quality will be proposed.

References

- Abu-Zaitoon YM, Bennett K, Normanly J, Nonhebel HM. 2012. A large increase in IAA during development of rice grains correlates with the expression of tryptophan aminotransferase OsTAR1 and a grain-specific YUCCA. Physiol Plant146:487-499
- Ahmad M, Zaffar G, Razvi SM, Dar ZA, Mir SD, Bukhari SA, Habib M. 2014. Resilience of cereal crops to abiotic stress. Afr J Biotechnol 13: 2908–2921
- Ahmed N, Eunus M, Latif MA, Ahmed ZU, Rahman M. 1998. Effect of nitrogen on yield, yield components and contribution from the pre- anthesis assimilates to grain yield of three photosensitive rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. J Natn Sci Coun Sri Lanka26:35-45
- Anjum FM, Pasha I, Bugti MA, Butt MS. 2007. Mineral composition of different rice varieties and their milling fractions. J Agri Sci 44:332-336 Baker JT, Allen JRLH, Boote KJ. 1992. Temperature effects on rice at elevated CO₂
 - Baker J1, Allen JRLH, Boole KJ. 1992. Temperature ellects on fice at elevated CO_2 concentration. J Exp Bot 43:959-964
- Baruah AR, Ishigo-Oka N, Adachi M, Oguma Y, Tokizono Y, Onishi K, Sano Y. 2009. Cold tolerance at the early growth stage in wild and cultivated rice. Euphytica 165:459–470.
- Bhatnagar-Mathur P, Vadez V, Sharma KK. 2007. Transgenic approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in plants: retrospect and prospects. Plant Cell Rep 27:411-24
- Belsnio B. 1992. The anatomy and physical properties of the rice grain in *Toward integrated* commodity management-section1: Physical grain characteristics of paddy/milled rice and its grades and standards, FAO. Rome, Italy
- Bernier J, Kumar A, Ramaiah V, Spaner D, Atlin G. 2007. A large-effect qtl for grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress in upland rice. Crop Sci 47:507–518
- Bhiah KM, Guppy C, Lockwood P, Jessop R. 2010 Effect of potassium on rice lodging under high nitrogen nutrition. 19th World congress of soil science, soil solutions for a changing world 1- 6 August 2010, Brisbane, Australia
- Biswal AK, Kohli A. 2013. Cereal flag leaf adaptations for grain yield under drought: Knowledge status and gaps. Mol Breed 31: 749–766
- Blum A. 2011. Drought resistance is it really a complex trait? Func Plant Biol. 38:753-757
- Boote KJ, Ibrahim AMH, Rafitte R, Mcculley R, Messina C, Murray SC, Spetch JE, Giese JE. 2011. Position statement on crop adaptation to climate change. Crop Sci 51:2337-2343
- Bouman BAM, Humphreys E, Tuong TP, Barker R. 2007. Rice and water. Adv Agron 92:187-237
- Butsat S, Siriamornpun S. 2010. Antioxidant capacities and phenolic compounds of the husk, bran and endosperm of Thai rice. Food Chem 119: 606–613
- Cai Y, Wang W, Zhu Z, Zhang Z, Langm Y, Zhu Q. 2006. Effects of water stress during grain-filling period on rice grain yield and its quality under different nitrogen levels. Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao 17: 1201-1206
- Calpe C. 2006. Rice international commodity profile. In FAO, Markets and trade division.
- Chandel G, Banerjee S, See S, Meena R, Sharmad J, Verulkar SB. 2010. Effects of different nitrogen fertilizer levels and native soil properties on rice grain Fe, Zn and protein contents. Rice Sci 17: 213–227
- Chang TT 2003. Origin, domestication and diversification. *In Rice: origin, history, technology and production.* John Wiley and Sons: 3-25pp
- Chaturvedi I. 2005. Effect of nitrogen fertilizers on growth, yield and quality of hybrid rice (*Oryza sativa*). J Cent Eur Agric 6: 611-618
- Cheng W, Sakai H, Yagi K, Hasegawa T. 2009. Interactions of elevated [CO2] and night temperature on rice growth and yield. Agric forest meteorol 149: 51-58
- Chrastil J. 1990. Protein-starch interactionin rice grains. Influence of storageon oryzeninand starch. J Agric Food Chem 36: 1804-1809

- Clark LJ, Price AH, Steele KA, Whalley WR. 2008. Evidence from near-isogenic lines that root penetration increases with root diameter and bending stiffness in rice. Funct Plant Biol 35:1163-1171
- Collard BC, Mackill DJ. 2008. Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. Phil Trans R Soc B 363: 557–572
- Colmer TD. 2003. Aerenchyma and an inducible barrier to radial oxygen loss facilitate root aeration in upland, paddy and deep-water rice (Oryza sativa L.). Ann Bot 91: 301-309.
- Comstock JP. 2002. Hydraulic and chemical signaling in the control of stomatal conductance and transpiration. J Exp Bot 53: 195-200
- Coudert Y, Périn C, Courtois B, Khong GN, Gantet P. 2010. Genetic control of root development in rice, the model cereal. Trends Plant Sci 15:219-225
- Counce PA. 2006. Rice–Cultivation. p. 586–589. In M. Black et al. (ed.) The encyclopedia of seeds: Science, technolog y and uses. CAB Int., Cambridge, MA
- Craufurd PQ, Wheeler TR, Ellis RH, Summerfield RJ,Williams JH. 1999. Effect of temperature and water deficit on water-use efficiency, carbon isotope discrimination, and specific leaf area in peanut. Crop Sci 39: 136–142
- CSC 2013: Climate change scenarios for the Congo basin. [Haensler A, Jacob D, Kabat P, Ludwig F. (eds.)]. Climate Service Centre Report No. 11, Hamburg, Germany, ISSN: 2192-4058
- Degenkolbe T, Do PT, Zuther E, Repsilber D, Walther D, Hincha DK, Köhl KI. 2009. Expression profiling of rice cultivars differing in their tolerance to long-term drought stress. Plant Mol Biol 69:133-153
- Devi GN, Padmavathi G, Babu VR, Waghray K. 2015. Proximate nutritional evaluation of rice (*Oryza Sativa L*.). J Rice Res 8: 23-32
- DFID 2009. Economic impacts of climate change: Kenya, Rwanda, Burundi. Climate report Rwanda. ICPAC Kenya and SEI Oxford office
- Dixit S, Singh A, Kumar A. 2014. Rice breeding for high grain yield under drought. A strategic solution to a complex problem. Int. J Agron 2014: 1-15
- Dixit S. Swamy BPM, Vikram P, Ahmed HU, Cruz MTS, Amante M, Atri D, Leung H, Kumar A. 2012. Fine mapping of QTLs for rice grain yield under drought reveals sub-QTLs conferring a response to variable drought severities. Theor Appl Genet 125: 155–169
- Du J, Zeng D, Wang B, Qian Q, Zeng S,-Qing H, Ling HQ. 2013. Environmental effects on mineral accumulation in rice grains and identification of ecological specific QTLs. Environ Geochem Health 35: 161–170
- Eckardt NA. 2000. Sequencing the rice genome. Plant Cell 11: 2011-2018
- Espino L. 2012. Rice tillering. Uc rice blog available at http://ucanr.edu/blogs/blogcore/.
- Fageria NK, Baligar VC, Clark RB.2006. Physiology of crop production. New York:The Haworth Press
- Fageria NK, Baligar VC. 2001. Lowland rice response to nitrogen fertilization. Comm Soil Sci Plant Anal 32: 1405–1429
- Fahramand M, Mahmoody M, Keykha A, Noori M, Rigi K. 2014.Influence of abiotic stres on proline, photosynthetic enzymes and growth. Int Res J Appl Basic Sci 8: 257–265
- Fan JB, Zhang YL, Turner D, Duan YH, Wang DS, Shen QR. 2010. Root physiological and morphological characteristics of two rice cultivars with different nitrogen use efficiency. Pedosphere 20: 446–455
- Fang S, Clark RT, Zheng Y, Iyer-Pascuzzi AS, Weitz JS, Kochian LV, Edelsbrunner H, Liao H, Benfey NP. 2013. Genotypic recognition and spatial responses by rice roots. PNAS 110: 2670–2675
- FAO 2004. Rice is life. Available atwww.fao.org/newsroom/en/focus/2004/36887/index.html

- Fofana M, Cherif M, Kone B, Futakuchil K Audebert A. 2010. Effect of water deficit at grain repining stage on rice grain quality. J Agric Biotech Sustain Dev Sci 9: 287-293
- Fukai S, Cooper M. 1995. Development of drought-resistant cultivars using physiomorphological traits in rice. Field Crops Res 40: 67-86
- Fukao T, Xiong L. 2013. Genetic mechanisms conferring adaptation to submergence and drought in rice: simple or complex? Curr Opinion Plant Biol 16: 196-204
- Fuller DQ. 2011. Pathways to Asian Civilizations: Tracing the origins and spread of rice and rice cultures. Rice 4: 78–92
- Gao T, Wu Y, Zhang X, Liu L, Ning Y, Wang D, Tong H, Chen S, Chu C, Xie Q. 2011. OsSDIR1overexpression greatly improves drought tolerance in transgenic rice. Plant Mol Biol 76:145-156
- Garris AJ, Tai TH, Coburn J, Kresovich S, McCouch S. 2005. Genetic structure and diversity in Oryza sativa L. Genetics 169: 1631–1638.
- Ghadirnezhad R, Fallah A. 2014. Temperature effect on yield and yield components of different rice cultivars in flowering stage. Int. J. Agron 2014: 1-4
- González JR, Livore A, Pons B. 2004. Physico-chemical and cooking characteristics of some rice varieties. Brazilian Arch Biol Technol 47:71-76
- Gu J, Chen J, Chen L, Wang Z, Zhang H, Yang J. 2015. Grain quality changes and responses to nitrogen fertilizer of japonica rice cultivars released in the Yangtze River Basin from the 1950s to 2000s. The Crop J 3: 285–297
- Gouda PK, Varma CMK, Saikumar S, Kiran B, Shenoy V, Sashidhar HE. 2012. Direct selection for grain yield under moisture stress in *Oryza sativa* cv. IR58025B x *O. meridionalis* population. Crop Sci 52: 644-653
- Gowda VRP, Henry A, Yamauchi A, Shashidhar HE, Serraj R. 2011. Root biology and genetic improvement for drought avoidance in rice. Field Crops Res 122:1-13
- GRiSP (Global Rice Science Partnership). 2013. Rice almanac, 4th edition. Los Baños (Philippines):International Rice Research Institute. 283 p
- Guan YS, Serraj R, Liu SH, Xu JL, Ali J, Wang W, Venus E, Zhu LH, Li ZK. 2010. Simultaneously improving yield under drought stress and non-stress conditions: A case study of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J Exp Bot 61: 4145–4156
- Guimarães CM, Stone LF, de Castro AP, de Morais Júnior OP 2015: Physiological parameters to select upland rice genotypes for tolerance to water deficit. Pesq Agropec Bras, Brasília 50:534-540
- Guimarães EP 2009 Rice Breeding in M.J. Carena (ed.), Cereals, The Banks and the Italian Economy
- Guo Y, Cai W, Tu K, Tu S, Wang S, Zhu X, Zhang W. 2013. Infrared and Ramans pectroscopic characterization of structural changes in albumin, globulin, glutelin, and prolamin during rice aging. J Agric Food Chem. 61:185-192
- Ha PTT. 2014. Physiological responses of rice seedlings under drought stress. J Sci Devel 12: 635–640
- Haider Z, Farooq U, Naseem I, Zia S, Alamgeer M. 2015. Impact of drought stress on some grain quality traits in rice (*Oryza sativa*) Agric Res 4:132–138
- He Z, Zhai W, Wen H, Tang T, Wang Y, Lu X, Greenberg A J, Hudson R R, Wu CI, Shi S. 2011. Two evolutionary histories in the genome of rice: the role of domestication genes. Plos Genet7: 1-10
- Hochholdinger F, Park WJ, Sauer M, Woll K. 2004. From weeds to crops: genetic analysis of root development in cereals. Trends Plant Sci 9: 42-48
- Hou X, Xie K, Yao J, Qi Z, Xiong L. 2009. A homolog of human ski-interacting protein rice positively regulates cell viability and stress tolerance. PNAS 106: 6410–6415

IRGSP (International Rice Genome Sequencing Project) 2005. The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature 436: 793-800

- IRRI 2007. The rice environments or ecosystems. Available at http://www.knowledgebank.irri.org/ericeproduction/0.3. Rice environments.htm
- Inouchi N, Ando H Asaoka M, Okuno K Fuwa H, Hiroshima, Ibaraki. 2000. Effect of environmental temperature on distribution of unit chains of rice amylopectin. Starch/Stärke 52: 8–12
- Insalud N, Bell RW, Colmer TD, Rerkasem B. 2006. Morphological and physiological responses of rice (Oryza sativa) to limited phosphorus supply in aerated and stagnant solution culture. Ann Bot 98: 995–1004
- Jain A, Balaravi P, Shenoy V. 2013. Assessment of yield based selection under managed field stress condition for breeding for rice yield improvement under drought. Biol 68: 569-576.
- Jaleel CA, Manivannan P, Wahid A, Farooq M, Al-Juburi HJ, Somasundaram R, Panneerselvam R. 2009. Drought stress in plants: A review on morphological characteristics and pigments composition. Int J Agric Bio 111: 100–105
- Jearakongman S. 2005. Validation and discovery of quantitative trait loci for drought tolerance in backcross introgression lines in rice (Oryza sativa L.) Cultivar IR64. PhD thesis. Kasetsart University, p. 95
- Jennings PR, Coffman WR, Kauffman HE. 1979. Rice improvement. International Rice Research Institute. Los Bãnos, Philippines.
- Jiang SL, Wu JG, Feng Y, Yang XE, Shi CH. 2007. Correlation analysis of mineral element contents and quality traits in milled rice (Oryza stavia L.). J Agric Food Chem 55:9608–9613
- Ji KX, Wang YY, Sun WN, Lou QJ, Mei HW, Shen SH, Chen H. 2012. Drought-responsive mechanisms in rice genotypes with contrasting drought tolerance during reproductive stage. J Plant Physiol 169: 336–344
- Jones M, Dingkuhn M, Aluko GK, Semon M. 1997. Interspecific Oryza sativa L. X O. glaberrima Steud. progenies in upland rice improvement. Euphytica 94: 237–246
- Jongdee B, Fukai S, Cooper M. 2002. Leaf water potential and osmotic adjustment as physiological traits to improve drought tolerance in rice. Field Crops Res 76: 153-163
- Kadan NN, Yin X, Bindraban PS, Struik PC, Jagadish K SV. 2015. Does morphological and anatomical plasticity during the vegetative stage make wheat more tolerant of water deficit stress than rice? Plant Physiol 167: 1389-1401
- Kato Y, Henry A, Fujita D, Katsura K, Kobayashi N, Serraj R. 2011. Physiological characterization of introgression lines derived from an *indica* rice cultivar, IR64, adapted to drought and water-saving irrigation. Field Crops Res 123: 130-138
- Klepper B. 1992. Development and growth of crop root systems. Adv Soil Sci 19: 1-25.
- Kim HR, You YH. 2010. The effects of the elevated CO_2 concentration and increased emperature on growth, yield and physiological responses of rice (Oryza sativa L. cv Junam). Adv Biores 1: 46-50
- Kirk GJD. 2003. Rice root properties for internal aeration and efficient nutrient acquisition in submerged soil. New Phytol 159: 185–194
- Khong GN, Kumar PP, Richaud F, Parizot B, Bidzinski P, Mai CD, Bès M, Bourrié I, Meynard D, Beeckman T, Selvaraj GM, Manabu I, Genga AM, Brugidou C, Nang Do V, Guiderdoni E, Morel JB, Gantet P. 2015 OsMADS26 negatively regulates stress resistance. Downloaded from www.plantphysiol.org on October 6, 2015
- Kris-Etherton PM, Hecker KD, Bonanome A, Griel, Etherton TD. 2002. Bioactve compounds in foods: their role in the prevention of cardiovascular disease and cancer. Amer J Med113: 1-18

- Kumar A, Dixit S, Ram T, Yadaw RB, Mishra KK, Mandal NP. 2014a. Breeding high yielding drought-tolerant rice: Genetic variations and conventional and molecular approaches. J Exp Bot 65: 6265–6278
- Kumar S, Dwivedi SK, Singh SS, Bhatt BP, Mehta P, Elanchezhian R, Singh VP, Singh O N. 2014b. Morphophysiological traits associated with reproductive stage drought tolerance of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) genotypes under rain-fed conditions of eastern Indo-Gangetic Plain. Ind J Plant Physiol 19: 87–93
- Kumar A, Bernier J, Verulkar S, Lafitte HR, Atlin GN. 2008. Breeding for drought tolerance: Direct selection for yield, response to selection and use of drought-tolerant donors in upland and lowland- adapted populations. Field Crops Res 107: 221-231
- Lanceras JC, Pantuwan G, Jongdee B, Toojinda T. 2004. Quantitative trait loci associated with drought tolerance at reproductive stage in rice. Plant Physiol 135: 384-399
- Lata C, Muthamilarasan M, Prasad M. 2015. Drought stress responses and signal transduction in plants pp 195-225 in Pandey G.K (ed). Elucidation of abiotic stress signaling in plants
- Lauteri M, Haworth M, Serraj R, Monteverdi MC, Centritto M. 2014. Photosynthetic diffusional constraints affect yield in drought stressed rice cultivars during flowering. PloS One, 9(10): e109054
- Lenka SK, Katiyar A, Chinnusamy V, Bansal KC. 2011. Comparative analysis of drought responsive transcriptome in indica rice genotypes with contrasting drought tolerance. Plant tolerance. Plant Biotechnol J. 9:315-327
- Li CN, Yang LT, Srivastava MK, Li YR. 2014. Foliar application of abscisic acid improves drought tolerance of sugarcane plant under severe water stress. Int J Agric Innov Res 3: 101–107
- Li X, Qian Q, Fu Z, Wang Y, Xiong G, Zeng D, Wang X, Liu X, Teng S, Hiroshi F, Yuan M, Luok D, Han B, Li J. 2003. Control of tillering in rice. Letters to nature 422: 618-621
- Lin SK, Chang MC, Tsai YG, Lur HS. 2005. Proteomic analysis of the expression of proteins related to rice quality during caryopsis development and the effect of high temperature on expression. Proteomics 5: 2140–2156
- Liu JX, Liao DQ, Oane R, Estenor L, Yang XE, Li ZC, Bennett J. 2006. Genetic variation in the sensitivity of anther dehiscence to drought stress in rice. Field Crops Res 97: 87–100
- Long DH, Lee FN, TeBeest DO. 2000. Effect of nitrogen fertilization on disease progress of rice blast on susceptible and resistant cultivars. Plant Dis 84: 403-409
- Lu BR, Zheng KL, Qian HR, Zhuang JY. 2002. Genetic differentiation of wild relatives of rice as assessed by RFLP analysis. Theor Appl Genet 106: 101-106
- Luo L, Li W, Miura K, Ashikari M, Kyozuka J. 2012. Control of tiller growth of rice by *osspl14* and strigolactones, which work in two independent pathways. Plant Cell Physiol 53: 1793–1801
- Mackill DJ, Coffman WR Garrity DP. 1996. Rainfed lowland rice improvement. International Rice Research Institute, Manila, Philippines. 242p
- Madan P, Jagadish SVK, Craufurd PQ, Fitzgerald M, Lafarge T Wheeler TR. 2012. Effect of elevated CO_2 and high temperature on seed set and grain quality of rice. J Exp Bot 63: 3843-3852
- McCouch SR, McNally KL, WANG W, Hamilton RS. 2012. Genomics of gene banks: A case study in rice. Amer J Bot 99: 407–423
- MINAGRI 2011. National rice development strategy (period 2011-2018). Kigali, Rwanda
- MINAGRI 2002. Programme national riz. Kigali, Rwanda
- MINELA 2010. Second national communication under the United Nations convention on climate change. Kigali, December 2010

- Mohammed AR, Tarpley L. 2009. High nighttime temperatures affect rice productivity through altered pollen germination and spikelet fertility. Agric Forest Meteorol 149: 999–1008
- Mohapatra PK, Patel R, Sahu SK. 1993. Time of flowering affects grain quality and spikelet partitioning within the rice panicle. Austr J Plant Physiol 20: 231-241
- Moldenhauer K, Wilson EC, Counce A P, Hardke J. 2013. Rice Growth and Developmen in Arkansas rice production Handbook 206p
- Molina J, Sikora M, Garud N, Flowers MJ, Rubinstein S, Reynolds A, Huang P, Jackson S, Schaal AB, Butsamante DC, Boyko RA, Purugganan DM. 2011. Molecular evidence for a single evolutionary origin of domesticated rice. PNAS 108: 8351-8356
- Murayama N. 1995. Development and senescence of an individual plant. In Science of the rice plant: Physiology, Vol 2, T. Matsuo, K. Kumazawa, R.Ishii, K. Ishihara and H. Hirata, eds. 119–178
- Nam KH, Kim DY, Shin HJ, Nam KJ, An JH, Pack IS, Park JH, Jeong SC, Kim HB, Kim CG. 2014. Drought stress induced compositional changes in tolerant transgenic rice and its wild type. Food Chem 153: 145-150
- Ning J, Li X, Hicks LM, Xiong L. 2010. A raf-like MAPKKK gene DSM1 mediates drought resistance through reactive oxygen species scavenging in rice. Plant Physiol. 152: 876-890
- Niones JM Inukai Y, Suralta RR Yamauchi A. 2015. QTL associated with lateral root plasticity in response to soil moisture fluctuation stress in rice. Plant Soil 391:63–75
- Oka HI. 1988. Origin of cultivated rice. Japan scientific society press. Okami M, Kato Y, Kobayashi N, Yamagishi J .2015. Morphological traits associated with vegetative growth of rice (Oryza sativa L.) during the recovery phase after early-season drought. Europ J Agron 64:58-66. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2014.12.006
- Oko AO, Ubi BE1, Efisue AA, Dambaba N. 2012. Comparative analysis of the chemical nutrient composition of selected local and newly introduced rice varieties grown in ebonyi state of nigeria International J Agric Forestry 2: 16-23
- O' Toole J.C 2004. Rice and water: the final frontier in *proceeding of the 1st international conference on Rice for the future.* Bangkok. http://www.plantstress.com/Articles/up_drought_fi les/Rice_water.pdf
- Pandey A, Kumar A, Pandey DS, Thongbam PD. 2014. Rice quality under water stress. Indian J Adv Plant Res 2: 23-26
- Pantuwan G, Fukai S, Cooper M, Rajatasereekul S, O'Toole JC. 2002. Yield response of rice (*Oryza sativa L*) genotypes to drought under rainfed lowland-3. Plant factors contributing to drought resistance. Field Crops Res 73: 181-200
- Peng B, Kong H, Li Y, Wang L, Zhong M, Sun L, Gao G, Zhang Q, Luo L, Wang G, Xi W, Chen J, Yao W, Peng Y, Lei L, Lian X, Xiao J, Xu C, Li X, He Y. 2014. OsAAP6 functions as an important regulator of grain protein content and nutritional quality in rice. Nature Commun 5:4847
- Prasad PVV, Boote KJ, Allen LH, Sheehy JE, Thomas JMG. 2006. Species, ecotype and cultivar differences in spikelet fertility and harvest index of rice in response to high temperature stress. Field Crop Res 95: 398–411
- Price A, Courtois B. 1999. Mapping QTLs associated with drought resistance in rice: Progress, problems and prospects. Plant Growth Reg 29: 123–133
- Price AH, Cairns JE, Horton P, Jones HG, Griffiths H. 2002. Linking drought esistance mechanisms to drought avoidance in upland rice using a QTL approach: progress and new opportunities to integrate stomatal and mesophyll responses. J Exp Bot 53: 989-1004
- Promar 2012. Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries in Rwanda: Fact-finding Survey for the Support of Aid to Developing Countries (Fiscal Year 2011 Research Project)
- RAB 2013. Rice program. Available on www.rab.gov.rw

- Razak DL, Rashid NY, Jamaluddin A, Sharifudin SA, Kahar A, Long K. 2015. Cosmeceutical potentials and bioactive compounds of rice bran fermented with single and mix culture of Aspergillus oryzae and Rhizopus oryzae. J Saudi Soc Agric Sci, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2015.04.001
- REMA 2011. Guidelines for mainstreaming climate change adaptation and mitigation in the environment and natural resources sectors. Kigali, Rwanda
- Rizk F, Doas HA, Elsakr AS. 1994. Chemical composition and mineral content of rice bran of two egyptian rice varieties heated by microwave. Die Nahrung 38: 273 277
- Rohman A, Helmiyati S, Hapsari M, Setyaningrum DL. 2014. Rice in health and nutrition. IFRJ21:13-24
- RKMP (Rice knowledge management portal) 2011. Rice culm. Available on www.rkmp.co.in/content/rice-culm
- Ryan EP, Heuberger AL, Weir TL, Barnett B, Broeckling CD, Prenni JE. 2011. Rice bran fermented with Saccharomyces boulardii generates novel metabolite profiles with bioactivity. J Agric Food Chem 59: 1862–1870
- Salam MU, Jones JW, Jones JWG. 1997. Phasic development of rice seedlings. Agron J 89: 653–658
- Sampang RL 1992. Paddy and milled rice grading in Toward integrated commodity management-section1: Physical grain characteristics of paddy/milled rice and its grades and standards. FAO. Rome, Italy
- Sang T, Ge S. 2007. Genetics and phylogenetics of rice domestication. Current Opin.Genet Develop 17: 533–538
- Santos AB, Fageria NK, Prabhu AS. 2003. Rice ratooning management practices for higher yields. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 34: 881–918
- Sasaki O,Yamazaki K Kawata S. 1984. The relationship between the diameters and the structures of lateral roots in rice plants. Jpn J Crop Sci 53: 169–75
- Schmidt GC, Gonçalves ML, Prietto L, Hackbart SH, Furlong BE. 2014. Antioxidant activity and enzyme inhibition of phenolic acids from fermented rice bran with fungus Rizhopus oryzae. Food Chem 146: 371–377
- Shabbir MA, Anjum FM, Zahoor T, Nawaz H. 2008. Mineral and pasting characterization of Indica rice varieties with different milling fractions. Int J Agric Biol 10: 556–560
- Sellamuthu R, Ranganathan C, Serraj R. 2015. Mapping QTLs for reproductive-stage drought resistance traits using an advanced backcross population in upland rice. Crop Sci 55: 1524–1536
- Serraj R, Kumar A, McNally KL, Slamet-Loedin I, Bruskiewich R, Mauleon R, Cairns J, Hijmans RJ. 2009. Improvement of drought resistance in rice. Adv Agron 103: 41-98
- Serraj R, McNally IK, Slamet-Loedin I, Kohli A, Haefele MS, Atlin G, Kumar A. 2011 Drought resistance improvement in rice: an integrated genetic and resources management strategy. Plant Prod Sci 14: 1-14
- Shao Y, Bao J. 2015. Polyphenols in whole rice grain: genetic diversity and health benefits. Food Chem 180: 86-97
- Siddiqui ZS, Cho J-I, Kwon T-R, Ahn B-O, Lee K-S, Jeong M-J, Ryu T-H, Lee S-K, Park S C, Park S-H .2014. Physiological mechanism of drought tolerance in transgenic rice plants expressing Capsicum annuum methionine sulfoxide reductase B2 (CaMsrB2) gene. Acta Phys Plant 36:1143-1153
- Sinclair TR 2010. Precipitation: The thousand pound gorilla in response to climate change. In D. Hillel and C. Rosenzweig (ed.). Handbook of climate change and agroecosystems;Impact, adaptation and mitigation. World sceientific books Hackensack NJ p179-190

- Sokoto MB, Muhammad A. 2014. Response of rice varieties to water stress in Sokoto, Sudan Savannah, Nigeria. J Biosci Med 2: 68–74
- Sultana N Ikeda T, Itoh R.1999. Effect of NaCl salinity on photosynthesis and dry matter accumulation in developing rice grains. Environ Exp Bot 42: 211-220
- Su D, Sultan F, Zhao N, Lei B, Wang F, Pan G, Cheng F. 2014. Positional variation in grain mineral nutrients within a rice panicle and its relation to phytic acid concentration J Zhejiang Univ-Sci B (Biomed & Biotechnol) 15: 986-996
- Surekha Rao P, Mishra B, Gupta SR. 2013. Effect of soil salinity and alkalinity on grain quality of tolerant, semitolerant, and sensitive rice genotypes. Rice Sci 20: 284–291
- Swamy MBP and Kumar A. 2013. Genome based precision breeding approaches to improve drought tolerance in rice. Biotech Adv 31: 1308-1318
- Tripathy JN, Zhang J, Robin S, Nguyen HT. 2000. QTLs for cell-membrane stabilitymapped in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) under drought stress. Theor Appl Genet 100: 1197-1202
- Turral H, Burke J, Faurès JM. 2011. Climate change, water and food security. FAO Water Reports No. 36, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Usman M, Raheem ZF, Ahsan T, Iqbal A, Sarfaraz ZN, Haq Z. 2013. Morphological physiological and biochemical attributes as indicators for drought tolerance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Eur J Biol Sci 5: 23-28
- Vaughan DA, Lu BR., Tomooka N. 2008. The evolving story of rice evolution. Plant Sci 174: 394-408
- Veronic V, Brigitte P, Judith B, Stephan H, Xavier R, Christian M. 2007. Cooking behavior of rice in relation to kernel physicochemical properties. J Agric Food Chem.55: 336-346
- Verulkar SB, Mandal NP, Dwivedi JL, Singh BN, Sinha PK, Mahato RN, Dongre P, Singh ON, Bose LK, Swain P, Robin S, Chandababu R, Senthil S, Jain A, Shashidhar HE, Hittalmani S, Cruz VC, Paris T, Raman A, Haefele S, Serraj R, Atlin G, Kumar A. 2010. Breeding resilient and productive genotypes adapted to drought-prone rainfed ecosystem of India. Field Crop Res 117: 197-208
- Wang C, Wang B, Zhang W. 2007. Effects of drought stress at different growth stages on grain yield and milling quality of rice. J Rice Sci 21: 643-649
- Wang L, 2008. The QTL controlling amino acid content in grains of rice (Oryza sativa) are co-localized with the regions involved in the amino acid metabolism pathway. Mol Breed 21: 127–137
- Wang M, Yu, Haberer G, Marri P, Fan C, Goicoeche LJ, Zuccolo A, Song X, Kudrna D
 Ammiraju SSJ, Cossu MR, Maldonado C, Chen J, Lee S, Sisneros N, de Baynast K, Golser W, Wissotski M, Kim W, Sanchez P, Ndjiondjop MN, Sanni K, Long M, Carney X J,
 Panaud O, Thomas Wicker T, Machado C, Chen M, Mayer FXK, Rounsley S, Wing AR.
 2014. The genome sequence of African rice (*Oryza glaberrima*) and evidence for independent domestication. Nature Genet 46: 982-988
- Wang Z, Xu Y,Chen T, Zhang H, Yang J, Zhang J. 2015. Abscisic acid and the key enzymes and genes in sucrose-to-starch conversion in rice spikelets in response to soil drying during grain filling. Planta 241:1091–1107
- Wani AA, Singh P, Shah MA, Schweiggert-Weisz U, Gul K, Wani AI. 2012. Rice starch diversity: effects on structural, morphological, thermal, and physicochemical properties. Comprehensive Rev Food Sci Food Safety 11: 417-431
- Wassmann R, Jagadish SVKS, Heuer S, Ismail A, Redona E, Serraj R, Singh RK, Howell G, Pathak H, Sumfleth K. 2009. Climate change affecting rice production: the physiological and agronomic basis for possible adaptation strategies. Adv Agron 101:59-121
- Wei S, Hu W, Deng X, Zhang Y, Liu X, Zhao X, Luo Q, Jin Z, Li Y, Zhou S, Sun T, Wang L, Yang G, He G. 2014. A rice calcium- dependent protein kinase OsCPK9 positively regulates drought stress tolerance and spikelet fertility. BMC Plant Biol14: 133

Wopereis 2009a. Knowing the rice plant. Africarice, reference 8

Wopereis 2009b.Effect of temperature on rice development. Africarice, reference 11.

- Xangsayasane P, Jongdee B, Pantuwan G, Fukai S, Mitchell JH. 2014. Genotypic performance under intermittent and terminal drought screening in rainfed lowland rice. Field Crops Res 156: 281-292
- Xie G, Yang J, Wang Z, Zhi Q. 2001. Grain filling characteristics of rice and their relationships to physiological activities of grains. Acta Agron Sin.27:557-565
- Xiong L, Yang Y. 2003. Disease resistance and abiotic stress tolerance in rice are inversely modulated by an abscisic acid-inducible mitogen-activated protein kinase. Plant Cell 15:745-759
- Xiong YZ, Zhang JS, Ford-Lloyd VB, Jin X, Wu Y, Yan XH, Liu P, Yang X, Lu BL. 2011. Latitudinal distribution and differentiation of rice germplasm: its implications inbreeding. Crop Sci 51: 1050-1058
- Xu G, Zhang J, Lam MH, Wang Z, Yang J. 2007. Hormonal changes are related to the poor grain filling in the inferior spikelets of rice cultivated under non-flooded and mulched condition. Field Crop Res 101: 53–61
- Yambao EB, Ingram KT. 1988. Drought stress index for rice. Philippines J Crop Sci 1: 105-111
- Yang GJ. 2015. Approaches to achieve high grain yield and high resource use efficiency in rice. Front Agr Sci Eng 2: 115–123
- Yang L, Huang J, Yang H, Dong G, Liu G, Zhu J Wang Y. 2006. Seasonal changes in the effects of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE) on dry matter production and distribution of rice. Field Crop Res 98: 12-19
- Yang PM, Huang QC, Qin GY, Zhao SP, Zhou JG. 2014. Different drought-stress responses in photosynthesis and reactive oxygen metabolism between autotetraploid and diploid rice. Photosynthetica, 52: 193–202
- Yang W, Peng S, Dionisio-Sese LM, Laza CR, Visperas MR. 2008. Grain filling duration a crucial determinant of genotypic variation of grain yield in field-grown tropical irrigated rice. Field Crop Res 105: 221–227
- Yoshida S. 1981. Fundamentals of rice crop science. International Rice Research Institute. Los Bãnos, Philippines
- Yue B, Xue W, Xiong L, Yu X, Luo L, Cui K, Jin D, Xing Y, Zhang Q. 2006. Genetic basis of drought resistance at reproductive stage in rice: separation of drought tolerance from drought avoidance. Genet 172: 1213-1228
- Zeng YW, Liu JF, Wang X, Shen SQ, Li ZC, Weng S, Yang ZY. 2004. Analysis on mineral element contents in associated with varietal type in core collection of Yunnan rice. Rice Sci 11: 106–112
- Zhang H, Li H, Yuan L, Wang Z, Yang J, Zhang J. 2012. Post-anthesis alternate wetting and moderate soil drying enhances activities of key enzymes in sucrose-to-starch conversion in inferior spikelets of rice. J Exp Bot 63:215-227
- Zhang H, Shao J, Bao, Beta T. 2015. Phenolic compounds and antioxidant properties of breeding lines between the white and black rice. Food Chem 172: 630-639
- Zhang W, Li G, Yang Y, Li Q, Zhang J, Liu J, Wang S, Tang S, Ding Y. 2014. Effects of nitrogen application rate and ratio on lodging resistance of super rice with different genotypes. J integrative Agric 13: 63-72
- Zhang Z, Chu G, Liu L, Wang Z, Wang X, Zhang H, Yang J, Zhang J. 2013. Mid-season nitrogen application strategies for rice varieties differing in panicle size. Field Crops Res 150: 9-18
- Zhang Z, Zhang S, Yang J, Zhang J. 2008. Yield, grain quality and water use efficiency of rice under non-flooded mulching cultivation. Field Crop Res 108:71-81

- Zhou L, Xu H, Mischke S, Meinhardt LW, Zhang DP, Zhu XJ, Li XH, Fang WP. 2014. Exogenous abscisic acid significantly affects proteome in tea plant (Camellia sinensis) exposed to drought stress. Hort Res 1: 14029
- Zhu QH, Ramm K, Shivakkumar R, Dennis ES, Upadhyaya NM. 2004. The anther indehiscence1 gene enconding a single MYB domain protein is involved in anther development in rice. Plant Physiol 135: 1514-1520
- Ziarati P, Azizi N. 2013. Chemical characteristics and mineral contents in whole rice grains, hulls, brown rice, bran and polished Ali Kazemi rice in Gilan Province north of Iran. MIJFAS Journal 2:1203-1209